
 

 

City of Bridgeport 

Ordinance Committee  

Regular Meeting 

January 28, 2025                                                                                                  Page 1   

CITY OF BRIDGEPORT 

ORDINANCE COMMITTEE 

REGULAR MEETING 

JANUARY 28, 2025 

 

ATTENDANCE: Aikeem Boyd, Co-chair; Ernest Newton, Maria Valle, Council President 

A. Nieves, Eneida Martinez, Co-chair (6:28 p.m.) 

 

OTHERS: Council Member(s): S. Burns, J. Cruz, & M. Pereira; J. Maye, Associate 

City Attorney; Dr. E. Rivera-Rodriquez, Director, Health & Social 

Services; Officer Durarte 

 

CALL TO ORDER 

 

Co-chair Boyd called the meeting to order at 6:06 p.m. A quorum was present.  

 

APPROVAL OF COMMITTEE MINUTES 

 

• October 22, 2024 (Regular Meeting) 

 

** COUNCIL MEMBER NEWTON MOVED THE MINUTES OF THE OCTOBER 22, 

2024 REGULAR MEETING. 

** COUNCIL MEMBER VALLE SECONDED. 

** THE MOTION TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE OCTOBER 22, 2024 

REGULAR MEETING AS SUBMITTED PASSED UNANIMOUSLY. 

 

• November 4, 2024 (Public Hearing) 

 

** COUNCIL MEMBER NEWTON MOVED THE MINUTES OF THE NOVEMBER 4, 

2024 PUBLIC HEARING. 

** COUNCIL MEMBER VALLE SECONDED. 

** THE MOTION TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE NOVEMBER 4, 2024 

PUBLIC HEARING AS SUBMITTED PASSED UNANIMOUSLY. 

 

• January 16, 2025 (Special Meeting) 

 

** COUNCIL MEMBER NEWTON MOVED THE MINUTES OF THE JANUARY 16, 

2025 SPECIAL MEETING. 

** COUNCIL MEMBER VALLE SECONDED. 

** THE MOTION TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE JANUARY 16, 2025 

SPECIAL MEETING AS SUBMITTED PASSED UNANIMOUSLY. 

 

157-23 Proposed Amendment to the Municipal Code of Ordinances, Chapter 10.12 – 

Stopping, Standing and Parking Generally, amend Section 10.12.010 B, 1. – 

Restrictions on Stopping or Parking Generally—Violations—Penalties—Exemption. 

 



 

 

City of Bridgeport 

Ordinance Committee  

Regular Meeting 

January 28, 2025                                                                                                  Page 2   

Due to a technical glitch, the initial portion of the discussion was not available.  

 

Council Member Cruz noted that Public Safety meeting was postponed. He said that he felt that 

this resolution should be tabled until they had more information.  

 

Council Member Pereira said that in Congress, legislators have voted no against an item, 

knowing that it would pass anyway. This allows them to tell their constituents that they did vote 

against the measure. She went on to say that she believed 1000% that they should have meters on 

the section of Main Street that is located in her District. Discussion followed.  

 

Council Member Newton noted that this was not the first time that this issue had come before the 

Council. He said that if the City could get the State legislators to put parking meters in on a state 

highway, he was fine with it. There are people who double park on Stratford Avenue and there 

are others who park there for three or four hours at a time. However, if property owners are 

abusing the system, then they need to pay. The City needs to generate some revenue. It hurts 

business owners if a car parks and stays there all day. That’s what is happening downtown. But if 

they put them on State road, they have to get approval from the State.  

 

A brief discussion followed about a previous Public Safety meeting with the delegates that was 

cancelled.  

 

Council Member Pereira said that it was nearly impossible to have anything done on a State road 

like a stop sign or traffic light. She said that before they could pursue this locally, the State 

statute has to change. Even if they pass the resolution, nothing could be done until the State 

statute changes.  

 

Council Member Cruz said that he had spoken with Representative Hennessey who told him that 

this should not be a problem. He suggested that there be two phases, installing the meters in 

locations that are not State Roads while working with the State to place the meters on State road.  

 

Council Member Burns said in that in Section 10.12.010 B,1 – the fee should be changed from 

$20.00 to $25.00 effective 30 days after public notification.  

 

He pointed out that when out of towners come into Bridgeport, they shouldn’t pay too much. He 

suggested that it be kept modest and see what happens. He suggested that the penalty amount in 

D-1 from $25.00 to $50.00 also be changed.  

 

** COUNCIL MEMBER NEWTON MOVED TO APPROVE AGENDA ITEM 157-23 

PROPOSED AMENDMENT TO THE MUNICIPAL CODE OF ORDINANCES, 

CHAPTER 10.12 – STOPPING, STANDING AND PARKING GENERALLY, AMEND 

SECTION 10.12.010 B, 1. – RESTRICTIONS ON STOPPING OR PARKING 

GENERALLY—VIOLATIONS—PENALTIES—EXEMPTION AS AMENDED.  

** COUNCIL MEMBER VALLE SECONDED. 

** THE MOTION PASSED UNANIMOUSLY. 

 



 

 

City of Bridgeport 

Ordinance Committee  

Regular Meeting 

January 28, 2025                                                                                                  Page 3   

** COUNCIL MEMBER NEWTON MOVED TO SCHEDULE A PUBLIC HEARING ON 

FEBRUARY 3, 2025 AT 5:00 P.M. IN THE CHAMBERS REGARDING AGENDA ITEM 

157-23 PROPOSED AMENDMENT TO THE MUNICIPAL CODE OF ORDINANCES, 

CHAPTER 10.12 – STOPPING, STANDING AND PARKING GENERALLY, AMEND 

SECTION 10.12.010 B, 1. – RESTRICTIONS ON STOPPING OR PARKING 

GENERALLY—VIOLATIONS—PENALTIES—EXEMPTION. 

** COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ  SECONDED. 

** THE MOTION PASSED UNANIMOUSLY. 

 

15-24 Proposed Amendment to the Municipal Code of Ordinances, Title 5 – Business 

Licenses and Regulations, amend to add NEW Chapter 5.88 – Nightclubs.  

 

Atty. Maye said that he had just been assigned this item. He gave a brief overview of 

neighboring municipalities’ policies. He said that the ordinance was moving in the right 

direction. He encouraged the Committee to be specific regarding the hours of operation.  

 

Council Member Newton asked what the hours were. Atty. Maye said that there was nothing in 

the ordinance about that. He explained that when the bars closed, people would go to hookah 

lounges from 2 a.m. to 5 a.m. and the fights happened when they closed.  

 

Council Member Newton asked if there was any follow-up on closing times. He recommended 

that they should include a time for closings. Atty. Maye reviewed the State statutes. Discussion 

followed.  

 

Council Member Martinez then gave a summary of previous meetings with a variety of police 

officers, Atty. Jankovsky and others who had discussed some of the problems that happen after 

the bars close. She noted that food trucks are not even supposed to sell food after 9 p.m. and this 

is also an issue since some of them park near bars and other places to sell food until 2 a.m. She 

said that the group had agreed that when the bars close at 2 a.m., there should be no afterhours 

hookah lounges or clubs.  

 

Atty. Maye explained that the State statute does not include the hours.  

 

Council Member Burns noted that the current nightclub ordinance reads: 

 

“ No establishment operating under a nightclub permit shall remain open past the closing 

time established by Section 30.91a” of the General Statutes. 

 

Atty. Maye asked if there would now be two separate applications, one for a night club and one 

for a hookah lounge.  

 

Council Member Newton asked to have the hookah lounges conditions be modeled after the 

night clubs. He listed the Monday through Thursday hours where they are open until 1 a.m. and 

the week-end hours of 2 a.m. on Friday thru Sunday.  

 



 

 

City of Bridgeport 

Ordinance Committee  

Regular Meeting 

January 28, 2025                                                                                                  Page 4   

Council President Nieves said that it would be important to be very clear on the language 

regarding Bring Your Own Bottles establishments. She noted that the name would also have to 

be changed. She noted that the BYOB clubs were referred to as “bottle clubs”. Discussion 

followed.  

 

Council Member Pereira said that the ordinances should not include acronyms like BYOB.  

 

She then noted that there was a section of the ordinance that stated “without having first obtained 

a valid nightclub code”. Council President Nieves directed her to the appropriate definition in the 

ordinance for a “valid nightclub code”.  

 

Council Member Pereira had a question about how the violation fines are determined and 

whether it was “per day” or “per incident”. Discussion followed about the terms “per incident” 

and “per violation” along with the number of officers that are dispatched for a hookah lounge 

incidence.  

 

Council President Nieves noted that when the City has to call for assistance from other towns, 

that costs the City. She reminded everyone that when the officers have to answer calls, they are 

pulling officers from the streets and the violators should be fined. Atty. Maye said that it would 

be important to have some definition of the offense because some of the calls could be someone 

trying to get back at the establishment rather than an actual violation. Discussion followed.  

 

Council Member Burns noted that he had looked up the General Statutes regarding the hours and 

it included opening and closing and holidays and such. He cautioned everyone that they could be 

headed for difficulty if they try to craft their own language when it is included in the General 

Statutes. It was pointed out that when the officers respond to these calls, they tell the owners that 

the hours are dictated by State Statute, and the owners say, “Okay”, but don’t really know what 

the State Statute is. Discussion followed about educating the public about these hours.  

 

Council Member Martinez said that they would be amending and putting this under the 

enforcement portion in 5.88.040 to read Sunday thru Thursday hours are 9:00 a.m. to 1 a.m. and 

Friday and Saturday close at 2 a.m., which are the hours in the State Statutes. Discussion 

followed.  

 

Council Member Pereira said that the owner should be required to display the permit in the club. 

Council President Nieves said that this is already included.  

 

Council Member Cruz spoke about how there were two locations near seniors and the early 

morning disturbances that were created by motorcycles and fights. He cited 5.88.090 and said 

that he liked that portion of the ordinance. Council Member Cruz asked how many times a venue 

would have to have violation calls logged in before they would shut the place down. He pointed 

out that the current language reads that the Chief of Police “may” shut down a nightclub, but said 

it should be changed to “shall”.  

 

Council President Nieves explained that changing the verb “may” to “shall”, because by process 

it will require the Chief to address it. “May” gives the Chief the option to address the issue or 



 

 

City of Bridgeport 

Ordinance Committee  

Regular Meeting 

January 28, 2025                                                                                                  Page 5   

not. The Council needs to insure that the procedure is in place and is a requirement. “Shall” 

requires some type of action be taken. Discussion followed.  

 

Atty. Maye stated that he thought the statute was lifted from New Haven and he said that the 

statute appeared to be 20 years old, so Atty. Maye believes that they have already been tested. 

 

Council Member Cruz suggested that they wait on this ordinance.  

 

Council Member Pereira pointed out that in Congress, the representatives or senators often know 

that a measure will pass with enough votes and so they then vote “No”. When their constituents 

object, the Congressman can say, “I voted no on this issue.”  

 

Council President Nieves pointed out that the Chief of Police is the one who issues the permits 

for these establishments. Council Member Pereira said she thought it was not right to tell the 

Chief what the outcome of a hearing would be before the hearing takes place. Discussion 

followed about the details.  

 

Council President Nieves asked Officer Durarte about the time period following an entity being 

closed down and the entity re-opening. Officer Durarte said that the owners come to the Police 

Department almost immediately and the entity often re-opens shortly thereafter.  

 

Council Member Martinez suggested that the 48 hours be amended with the phrase “excluding 

week-ends and holidays”. Discussion followed about the timeline and when the owner would 

receive the revocation.  

 

Council Member Pereira wanted to know why the Health Director did not have a say and 

suggested that the hearing be held in the Health Director’s Office. Discussion followed.  

 

Dr. Rivera-Rodriquez said that the Health Department was working on the process when a 

“cease and desist” order is issued. She said that she takes a picture of the “cease and desist” letter 

and texts it to the phone number that is on record in the file. She also follows the required 

procedure of sending a certified letter.  

 

Council Member Pereira objected to the 48 hours and said it was authoritarian. She pointed out 

that when a Bridgeport resident mails a letter to another Bridgeport resident, it does not arrive in 

48 hours. She asked why the three individuals are the ones that make the decisions about closing 

an entity, what the point of the hearing was.  

 

Council Member Martinez said that Atty. Maye was the one who had all the finalized language. 

 

The discussion then returned to the issue of notification. Dr. Rivera-Rodriquez pointed out that 

there was the issue of multiple landlords or non- State resident landlords.   

 

Council Member Pereira said that the tax records are not necessarily accurate and went on to 

speak about her concerns regarding setting a timeline. 

 



 

 

City of Bridgeport 

Ordinance Committee  

Regular Meeting 

January 28, 2025                                                                                                  Page 6   

Council President Nieves pointed out that all arguing about details was getting the Committee 

bogged down. The Chief of Police has authority given to him by the State to issue permits, the 

same way the Health Department and the Fire Marshal have authority. The Nuisance Abatement 

and a Noise Ordinance are also mentioned in the ordinances. These ordinances already exist. 

This will just give the officers another tool in the tool box. She went on to explain that there had 

been a number of shootings on Knowlton and the various local businesses are being effected by 

the debris from the hookah lounge patrons. This is about addressing the quality of life for the 

other residents. She added that both Atty. Jankovsky and Atty. Anastasi had reviewed the 

ordinance.  

 

Council Member Pereira said that one of the most disgraceful things she had experienced as a 

Council Member was the $4 million dollars settlements for the former Police Chief’s actions. 

She said that when the Police Department does well, it is a reflection on the Police Chief. When 

it does not do well, it is a reflection on the Police Chief. Her concern was about the fact that the 

Police Chief would have all this power and all these very high settlements has been atrocious. No 

one person should have the power to pull someone’s business license. She said that she did not 

believe that the Police Department should have that level of power. She stated that she would not 

be voting for this resolution.  

 

Council President Nieves said for the record that the Health Director has the power and the other 

person that has the most power to shut anybody down unilaterally until they decide to re-open or 

fit the condition of the inspection is the Fire Marshal. It is statutory through the State and the 

Police Chief has statutory power through the State. He is the permitter for all nightclubs and the 

other permits.  

 

Council Member Martinez reminded everyone that the pool hall was shut down by the police and 

cannot be reopened unless the property is sold. This was done on a court order.  

 

Council President Nieves said that she likes the procedure because there are several steps. 

Discussion followed.  

 

Dr. Rivera-Rodriquez said that when the Health Department closes a business, they post a notice 

right on the door. Currently, there is no enforcement at all.  

 

The discussion then moved back to the 48 hours and when it would take effect.  

 

** COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ MOVED TO AMEND AGENDA ITEM 15-24 

PROPOSED AMENDMENT TO THE MUNICIPAL CODE OF ORDINANCES, TITLE 5 

– BUSINESS LICENSES AND REGULATIONS, AMEND TO ADD NEW CHAPTER 

5.88 – NIGHTCLUBS AS FOLLOWS: 

 

5.88.020 – DEFINITIONS, UNDER ABBREVIATION FOR BYOB CHANGED TO  

“BRING YOUR OWN BOTTLE (BYOB)”.  

 

5.88.040 –ENFORCEMENT – THE ADDITION OF THE FOLLOWING HOURS  

OF OPERATION: 



 

 

City of Bridgeport 

Ordinance Committee  

Regular Meeting 

January 28, 2025                                                                                                  Page 7   

  SUNDAY THRU THURSDAY – 9 A.M. TO 1 A.M. 

  FRIDAY AND SATURDAY – FROM 9 A.M. TO 2 A.M. 

 

5.88.070 – PERMIT REQUIREMENTS – ADD A #9 WITH THE SAME HOURS  

OF OPERATION: 

  SUNDAY THRU THURSDAY – 9 A.M. TO 1 A.M. 

  FRIDAY AND SATURDAY – FROM 9 A.M. TO 2 A.M. 

 

5.88.040B -- PENALTIES FOR OFFENSE -- A FINE OF $250.000 SHALL BE  

IMPOSED FOR EACH VIOLATION OF THIS CHAPTER.  

  

5.88.090 –     REVOCATION OF A PERMIT – SECTION A. THE CHIEF OF  

POLICE SHALL PROVIDE AN OPPORTUNITY FOR A 

HEARING REGARDING A REVOCATION OF A PERMIT, 

AFTER A WRITTEN REQUEST FOR A HEARING IS MADE.  

 

5.88.090 –     REVOCATION OF A PERMIT – SECTION E. – ADD AFTER  

“DELIVERED IN HAND TO THE PERMITEE” VIA EMAIL AND 

OR TEXT MESSAGES.  

 

** COUNCIL MEMBER NEWTON SECONDED. 

** THE MOTION PASSED UNANIMOUSLY. 

 

** COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ MOVED TO SCHEDULE A PUBLIC HEARING 

FOR AGENDA ITEM 15-24 PROPOSED AMENDMENT TO THE MUNICIPAL CODE 

OF ORDINANCES, TITLE 5 – BUSINESS LICENSES AND REGULATIONS, AMEND 

TO ADD NEW CHAPTER 5.88 – NIGHTCLUBS ON FEBRUARY 3, 2025 AT 5:30 P.M. 

IN THE COUNCIL CHAMBERS.  

** COUNCIL MEMBER NEWTON SECONDED. 

** THE MOTION PASSED UNANIMOUSLY. 

 

ADJOURNMENT 

 

** COUNCIL MEMBER NEWTON MOVED TO ADJOURN. 

** COUNCIL MEMBER VALLE SECONDED.  

** THE MOTION PASSED UNANIMOUSLY. 

 

The meeting adjourned at 8:02 p.m. 

 

Respectfully submitted 

 

 

S. L. Soltes 

Telesco Secretarial Services 


